
 
 

 



 

 

 

This report is produced by 
 

 

ARCHAEOLOGICAL INVESTIGATIONS LTD 

 
Manager : A Boucher BSc  

 

 

UNIT 1, PREMIER BUSINESS PARK, 

WESTFIELDS TRADING ESTATE, 

FARADAY ROAD, HEREFORD 

HR4 9NZ 
 

Tel. (01432) 364901 

Fax. (01432) 364900 

 
    for: Tufnell Town & County Planning 

     10 Montpellier Arcade 

     Cheltenham 

     Gloucestershire 

     GL50 1SU 

_______________________________________________________________ 

 

Archaeological Investigations Ltd is a trading company wholly owned by the 

Hereford City and County Archaeological Trust Ltd, a registered charity founded 

in 1997 to further the work of the City of Hereford Archaeological Committee 

(founded in 1974) throughout Herefordshire.  The Company maintains a core 

staff with a broad range of expertise, whilst also making extensive use of 

specialist contract personnel. Besides working on the buried archaeology of 

Hereford and the country in general, the Company specialises in geophysical 

survey, historical illustration and the archaeological recording and analysis of 

standing buildings. Work is usually on a commission basis on behalf of 

organisations such as English Heritage, the National Trust, and the Landmark 

Trust. The Company also accepts commissions from local authorities and private 

developers and provides specialist consultancy advice in relation to archaeology 

in the planning process and general environmental issues. 

 

 

Cover picture:  

 Bartestree convent, north elevation prior to redevelopment  
                   ______________________________________________________ 

 
Hereford City & County Archaeological Trust : Company Number 3283805 

Registered Charity Number 1060840 

Archaeological Investigations Ltd : Company Number  3356931  VAT 692 1750 23 

 

 

 



Bartestree Convent 

Bartestree 

Herefordshire 
(NGR SO 5683 4068) 

 

Monitoring of ground works and photographic survey 
_______________________________________________ 

 

Text/Illustrations 
D. Rouse, L. Craddock-Bennett 

 

Site Work 

D. Rouse, K. Hoverd, K.Crooks, S. Mayes, A. Boucher 

 
__________________________________________________ 

 

Contents 

 

 1.  Summary 

 2.  Introduction 

 3.  Historical Background 

          4.  Aims and Objectives 

          5.  Method 

          6.  Results 

          7.  Discussion 

          8. Conclusion 

          9. Bibliography 

        Appendix 1 – The Site Archive 

        Appendix 2 – Photographic Survey registers and plans 

        Figures & Plates 

  

 

__________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 October 2008 

 

 

©Archaeological Investigations Ltd 

 

 



Bartestree Convent  

Bartestree 
Herefordshire 

(NGR SO 5683 4068) 

 

Monitoring of ground works and photographic survey 
 

1.  Summary 

 
The project was initiated in response to a Planning Application (CE2002/1750/F) submitted by 

Hotchin Partnership and Peter Tuffnell Architect on behalf of Mill Strand Properties Ltd., 

Rudford, Gloucestershire to convert the former Bartestree Convent into luxury flats and to 

include new build. 

 

Herefordshire Archaeology advised that the development proposal had significant 

archaeological implications. Accordingly a standard archaeological "programme of works" 

condition was attached to planning permission when granted. The condition followed national 

government guidance (PPG 15 and 16) and is in accordance with local government 

(Herefordshire) plans. This included a condition requiring a photographic survey.  

 

The first stage of the work was to dig 8 test pits to assess the suitability of the soil for 

construction purposes. No archaeological features or finds were present in any of the test pits.  

 

This report deals with the photographic survey and observations of ground works made on 

subsequent monitoring visits during the course of the development. 

 

The aims of the archaeological programme were to identify and record any archaeological 

evidence revealed by excavation on the site, and to make a satisfactory photographic record of 

the historic buildings to R.C.H.M.E level 2 standard.  

 

The findings were that no archaeological finds or features were present in any of the areas 

excavated during the course of the development.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2.  Introduction 

 

Mill Strand Properties Limited proposed to convert the former Bartestree Convent into flats and 

build new housing around the present building.  

 

The convent is located in a rural setting on the outskirts of the village of Bartestree in 

Herefordshire (Fig.1). On commencement the site was made up of the main Victorian Convent 

(disused) and comprised associated chapels, various outbuildings and three small burial grounds. 

It is on hilly ground, bordered to the east and west by open fields; to the south by St Michael’s 

Hospice and to the north by a recent housing development and the main A438 Hereford to 

Ledbury road.  

 

Herefordshire Archaeology advised that the development proposal may have archaeological 

implications. Under Planning Policy Guidelines Notes 15 and 16 the Planning Authority were 

advised that a program of archaeological work was required, taking the form of a watching brief 

and building recording in the form of a photographic record to RCHME level 2 standard. 

 

The underlying geology consists mainly of gravel overlying Raglan Mudstone and drift. The site 

is located at NGR SO 5683 4068 and the nearest benchmark is located on the lodge at the east 

end of the road to the convent and hospice at the A438 roadside and has a value of 60.16m O.D.   

 

The fieldwork was undertaken between the 30/07/03 and 30/01/06. 

 

 

3.  Historical Background 

 

• Figure 2 SMR map 

• Figures 5 -9 Historic maps 

 

The name Bartestree comes from the Saxon "Beortwealds tree" which probably represents the 

martyring place of  Beorthweald, the tree part implies death by crucifixion (ie on the tree). In 

later Saxon times Bartestree was a hamlet held by Leofled. After the Norman Conquest in 1066, 

Bartestree became the possession of Walter de Lacy who added it to the lands of St Guthlac's 

Priory in Hereford.  

 

Bartestree is mentioned in the Domesday Book, which was compiled for King William I 

(William the Conqueror) in 1086, the entry reads as follows: -  

 

“Nigel the Doctor holds Bartestree from the land of St. Guthlac’s. 

Leofled held it. 2 hides; 1 of them pays tax according to the testimony of the county (Court). In 

Lordship 3 ploughs; 3 slaves; 1 reeve with 1 plough.  Meadow there. 

Land for 3 ploughs. The value was 60s; now50s.  

An outlier is attached to this manor. Leofled held it. 2 hides; One of them pays tax according to 

the testimony of the county (Court).  

Nigel has 2 ploughs in lordship and 2 slaves and one smallholder and one rider with land without 

a plough. 

The value is and was 40s.” 

 

The present church of St James is the third to have been built in Bartestree, the earliest known 

was a modestly proportioned Norman church with nave and chancel. The Norman church was 



replaced in 1841 with a new building of similar size and proportions, in mock early English style 

with triple lancet windows and a small bell-cote. This building was itself replaced in 1887 by the 

present church as the existing one was considered too small and poorly built.  

 

Building materials from the second church were re-used in the construction of the present church 

building and the newly enlarged chapel was re-consecrated by the Bishop of Hereford on the 9
th

 

of August 1888.    

 

During the Medieval period, the village lay to the east of the chapel and covered both sides of 

the old road. At an unspecified time the village was abandoned and is now only visible as 

earthworks. 

 

The Convent of Our Lady of Charity and Refuge (SMR 15272) at Bartestree was built by E. 

Welby Pugin, founded in 1863 with additions in 1881, 1889 and 1895 by Chick. It is built of red 

brick and the older parts are Neo Gothic and asymmetrical with gables and gabled dormers, 

culminating in a thin tower with the doorway across a corner so that the corner has to be 

elaborately corbelled above it. 

 

Incorporated within the Convent is the Chapel of St. James (SMR 15273), which is built of 

stone. It was previously the chapel of Old Longworth, Lugwardine, to the south of the Convent, 

which had been restored and was re-converted in 1860 and re-erected on the present site in 1869 

– 70.  

 

It was probably first built in the latter part of the 14
th

 Century and had latterly been used as a 

barn.  It has perpendicular North / East windows and the roof has collar-beams on arched braces 

and cusped wind-braces. The door is 15
th

 Century with tracery in the porch (Pevsner 1963). 

 

The Ordnance Survey map of 1886 shows a disused quarry (Loosehill quarry) immediately to 

the south west of the Convent. 

 

Previous archaeological work had been carried out at the site on the 06/03/03, which involved 

monitoring of 8 engineering test pits (S.M.R 33730, Hereford Archaeology Series 573). No 

archaeological work had been carried out on the site prior to this.  

 

 

4.  Aims and Objectives 

 

The main aim of the archaeological work was to: 

 

a) Record elements of the standing structures by photography to RCHME level 2. 

 

b) Identify the date and nature of features exposed by groundworks. 

 

c) Assess survival, quality, condition and relative significance of any archaeological features, 

deposits and structures within the study area. 

 

d) Produce a record of the features selected. 

 

 

 



5.  Method 

 

A photographic survey was carried out to record elements of the historic building during 

alterations and demolition. The survey was carried out to RCHME level 2 standard. 

 

Trenches were excavated for new essential services as well as ground reduction for additional 

car parking. Trenches were dug by mechanical excavator using a toothless bucket (where 

practical) and monitored by a suitably experienced archaeologist.  

 

After cleaning the sections, photographs were taken using colour and black and white 35mm 

film, to record the presence or absence of archaeological deposits, registers were kept for 

photographs. 

 

As no archaeological features were present within any of the excavated areas, trench plans were 

annotated onto the Architects plans of the site at 1:100 scale. Selected sections were drawn at 

1:20 scale to demonstrate the sequence of naturally occuring deposits encountered during 

excavation. 

 

Recording was carried out in accordance with Archaeological Investigations Ltd site manual and 

the code of conduct of the Institute of Field Archaeologists was adhered to. 

 

 

6.  Results 

 

6.1 Photographic survey 

 

Prior to the excavation a full photographic survey was undertaken on the building paying special 

attention to the parts of the building that were to be demolished. The photographic record was 

produced by Ken Hoverd of Archive and made to RCHME level 2 standard. The photographic 

record was keyed to plans of the buildings. Registers were produced to aid identification of the 

photographs and are included in the photographic survey report.  

 

The full photographic survey report is not included as part of this document but selected 

photographs have been used to support the discussion. Photographic registers and location plans 

are included as appendix 2 at the back of this report. 

 

The photographic survey archive including all negatives, prints and photograph location plans 

will be held (along with the monitoring of ground works archive) at Hereford Museum under the 

accession number HFD-MU-2003-34. 

 

6.2  Monitoring of ground works 

 

• Figure 3 Plan of Site with locations of observations 

 

Service trenches for gas, water, drainage and electricity were excavated and monitored all 

around the buildings both inside and out. Excavation was also required for the creation of 

additional parking space outside. Inside the building there were also wall foundations and a lift 

pit that required excavation.  

 



The soil descriptions used below are global for the site and are common for all the areas 

excavated unless otherwise stated.  

 

The topsoil was dark brown sandy silt containing stones and some modern rubbish including 

debris from the building of the convent. The depth of the topsoil deposit did not exceed 0.25m. 

No finds or features of archaeological interest were present within the topsoil. 

 

In parts of the site a layer of brown clay was present below the topsoil and varied in depth 

between 0.4m to over 1m. 

 

The subsoil layers also consisted of red brown clay and in some areas of the site, specifically the 

south-east corner of the building where deep trenches (2m plus) were excavated for drainage, 

silvery grey banding was visible (which was geological rather than archaeological in nature). 

 

6.2.1 Excavation on the east side of the building 

 

The first archaeological observations made on the site as part of the development work were on a 

multiple service trench excavated along the east side of the building from the chapel to connect 

to the existing services at the front, north side of the building. A tarmac path adjacent and 

parallel to the trench led along the side of the building from the tower to the north front of the 

building. 

 

The stripping of topsoil near to the junction of the Longworth chapel and Pugins' chapel 

unearthed two very worn moulded stones, both of which were made from a fine grained white 

stone.  

 

The mouldings appeared to be a broken corbel and a pillar base. The profile of the corbel does 

not match any of the corbel types present on the existing building. The "base" appears similar to 

decoration on the tracery of the tower openings, and even the stone decoration on several of the 

chimneys. 

 

Near to as well as within the chapel, any excavation did not exceed 1m in depth The top 0.70m 

of soil in this area was made ground consisting of mixed soils with rubble and mortar associated 

with the construction of the convent. The original ground level was visible below as a grey band 

of former topsoil above the red brown clay.  

 

Along the trench between the chapel and the tower on this side of the building, pipes and 

existing services, including the feed for the central heating system, were exposed crossing the 

trench from east to west.  

 

As the trench approached the front (north side) of the building, two earlier tarmac surfaces were 

exposed below the existing tarmac path along the east side of the building. These surfaces were 

the earlier equivalents of the present path from the tower to the north front of the building.   

 

Near the north-east corner of the building the trench cut through test pit 6 which was one of the 

engineering pits excavated in the first stage of the development. From here the trench branched 

to the roadside where the total depth excavated was around 2.30m  

 

No archaeological finds or features of archaeological interest were present within the trench. 

 



Also excavated along the eastern side of the building were two parking bays. One was located 

between the road to St Michael's Hospice and the east side of the building (Bay 1), the other 

(Bay 2) was located on the other side of the road and was cut into the existing bank. 

 

The excavation of Bay 1 took the ground level down by 1m to the level of the existing road 

between the convent and hospice. The total length of the excavated area was close to 37m long 

by 4.5m wide to the road edge.  

 

The east facing section was cleaned and showed former topsoil horizons along it that indicated 

that the ground level had previously been made up, probably twice. At the interface of both 

former soil horizons were deposits of slate and rubble most likely from construction work on the 

convent. No finds or features of archaeological interest were present.   

 

The second parking area (Bay 2) was created on the opposite side of the road, this area was 

already below the level of the road and sloped down from the roadside to the east, the bay 

therefore needed to be cut into the bank.  

 

The cut was set back 1.90m from the road edge. The area excavated was 7.5m long by 5m wide 

by 1.5m deep. A trench was dug around the inside of the excavation to take a retaining wall, its 

width was 0.90m x 0.40m deep. No finds or features of archaeological interest were present.  

 

6.2.2 Excavation on the north side of the building 

 

Excavation was carried out on the northern side of the building after parts of the front of the 

building were demolished. A new road, aligned east-west was needed along the north face and 

services needed to be put in before the road was completed. During the course of the excavation 

wall bases and a basement from the recent demolition of the north front were exposed.  

 

An un-bonded, brick-lined well containing an iron water pipe was located towards the northwest 

end of the building. The well, which was bell shaped, was built for the convent by 1886 and had 

once had a pump at the top connected to the iron pipe. The well had evidently been out of use for 

some time and had been closed off with a stone slab, the map evidence suggests that this 

happened by 1971 when it no longer appears on the maps.  

 

The excavations for the services and the road did not exceed 0.60m in depth along the north 

front and nothing further of archaeological interest was present in the areas excavated.  

 

6.2.3 Excavation for roof water services in the cloister garden 

 

Drain runs and traps were excavated around the walls facing into the cloister garden to take roof 

water away. The drains observed were not deep, they did not exceed 0.60m. No finds or features 

were present.    

 

6.2.4 Excavations within the buildings 

 

In the former Madonna hall a lift shaft base was excavated, this required a pit 3m square x nearly 

2m deep, trenches were also excavated for services and wall foundations in this area. The wall 

foundations were around 1m deep x 0.60m wide while the service runs tended to be less deep. 

No finds or features were present within the excavated areas.  

 



6.2.5 Excavations along the west side of the building 

 

Services including gas and water were carried around to the west side of the building at a 

distance of approximately 2m from and parallel to the building. Though the trenches were in 

excess of 1m deep nothing of archaeological interest was present within the excavated area. The 

service run terminated at the south-west angle where they entered the building. 

 

6.2.6 Reduction of the western basement floor and the earth-filled room 

 

A mini digger was brought into the basement on the west side of the building to strip out the 

existing concrete floor to allow for extra head height and a new basement floor. The floor make 

up consisted of concrete on a brick rubble base, a blinding layer of mortar lay below.  

 

The depth of the excavation did not exceed 0.25m and exposed a layer of reddish-brown clay 

and shale, nothing of archaeological interest was exposed by the excavation. 

 
Part of the works in the basement included the removal of two walls in the south-west corner. 

When the work started on knocking through the south-west wall, it was discovered that the wall 

was thicker than expected (other internal basement walls averaged 0.21m thick, this one was 

0.35m thick). On opening a hole through, a room was discovered that had been filled almost to 

the underside of the floor above with earth and brick rubble.   

 

The north wall of the room was then completely removed to gain access, exposing the earth fill. 

When the fill was excavated, concrete foundations were visible under the outer walls and a brick 

pier, 0.46m square was exposed on the east face of the remaining internal wall.  No other finds 

were present within the fill of the room. 

 

6.2.7 Alterations outside the basements on the west side of the building 

 

Alterations were made to the outside of the basement, a sloping concrete ramp was removed, 

along with a retaining wall and a concrete base at basement entrance level. The access to the 

basement was made wider (4.50m wide) and lowered by around 1m during this operation 

exposing red-brown clay behind the revetment and below the concrete floor, no archaeological 

evidence was present. 

 

6.2.8 The well located on the west side of the building 

 

A second well was encountered during ground works on the western side of the buildings. 

Archaeologists were invited to inspect the feature but unfortunately the well had already been 

filled for health and safety reasons on the day before the call was made. Descriptions were taken 

from those who had seen the feature prior to it being filled and it sounded very similar to the 

well already described on the north side, except this one appeared to have had a small domed 

top. Iron pipes probably relating to a pump were also mentioned as having been seen close by 

the feature. Both the well and a nearby pump appear on the 1904 Ordnance Survey map (Fig. 7), 

the well does not appear on the 1929 map (Fig 8) but the pump is still shown, both items have 

gone from the maps by 1971.  

 

 

 



6.3 Survey of the graveyard 

 

The clients were interested in the possibility of building on the graveyard in the north-west 

corner of the convent site. The graveyard was surveyed archaeologically to determine how any 

building work might have affected the burials and when the last burials took place. The 

information from the survey was to be used to assess the possibility of any building program in 

the graveyard. 

 

The survey showed that it was possible to distinguish as many as 27 graves and potentially, more 

were present that could be affected by building work. Two of the graves still had in-situ grave 

markers, one of which was a simple wooden cross with no name plate. The other was a similar 

wooden cross with a name and date marked on it, the date being September 1980. Four other 

grave markers were present but did not appear to be in situ. 

 

It was later decided that in view of the recent nature of the graveyard, it would be better to 

protect it under a car park rather than build on it. 

 

 

7  Discussion 

 

7.1 Photographic survey 

 

• Figure 4a  Annotated floor plan of Convent 

• Figure 4b Construction phases of Convent and photograph location 

• Plates 

 

Used in conjunction with historic maps and research alongside a site visit, the photographic 

survey has helped to establish the different phases of construction of the Convent. 

 

The Catholic Convent of Our Lady of Charity and Refuge was founded in 1863 by Robert 

Biddulph Phillipps of Longworth. The original convent was built from the designs of Edward 

Welby Pugin (1834-1875).  

 

Pugin’s original designs were quite simple (cottages with large porches) but were rejected by the 

mother superior of the convent in favour of something more grand.  

 

Additions and alterations to the original structure were carried out by the Hereford architect 

William Chick in 1881, 1889 and 1895. Unfortunately it has not been possible to determine 

which phases of the building relate to these specific dates. 

 

7.1.1 Phase 1 - 1863 

 

The north range and east range were constructed by Pugin in a Gothic style (Plates 4 & 5). An 

Italianesque tower stands at the southwest corner of the structure with an entrance porch below. 

The porch and tower are set at a 45º angle to the rest of the building and face northeast. The 

buildings were constructed from red brick. The window lintels are stone and a continuous stone 

band links the lintels. 

 

7.1.2 Phase 2 – 1870 



 

The Chapel of St. James (SMR15273) was re-erected on the site in 1869-70. It was previously 

the chapel of Old Longworth, Lugwardine and was restored and re-converted in 1860 prior to 

being re-erected on the present site. The chapel was probably first built in the latter part of the 

14
th

 century.  

 

At this point the convent and chapel were not connected. 

 

7.1.3 Phase 3a – 1881-1886 

 

An apsidal ended chapel has been added to the Phase 1 structure on the eastern range. The 

building is offset from the Phase 1 structure to enable the western corridor of the earlier building 

to align with the centre of the new structure. This building joins up both Phase 1 and Phase 2 

structures. A southern range (Madonna Hall) and a western range rejoin the new structures to the 

Phase 1 building, creating an internal courtyard. A construction break at first floor level (Plate 3; 

922) on the western range suggests that it was built in stages. It appears that it was originally 

constructed as a narrow, single story covered walkway linking the Madonna Hall to the Phase 1 

building. 

 

7.1.4 Phase 3b – 1881-1886 

 

The covered walkway of the western range is extended with rooms added to the west of the 

corridor and a second storey added. The second storey itself is apparently built in two stages. A 

construction break is visible on the upper storey approximately half way along its length (Plate 

3; 922). Chick’s plans for this phase of alterations and additions (Plate 6) are unfortunately 

undated. 

 

7.1.5 Phase 3c – 1881-1886  

 

A single storey room at the southernmost point of the convent does not appear on any historic 

maps of the site until 1971 (Fig. 9). No construction break could be found between this structure 

and the Phase 3a structure, however, and it is the authors belief that this structure belongs to 

Phase 3 (Plate 1; 810). 

 

7.1.6 Phase 3d – 1881-1886 

 

A single storey building is constructed adjacent to the southern wall of the Madonna Hall. This 

does not appear on any historic maps of the site, but the construction style places it within Phase 

3. 

 

7.1.7 Phase 3e – 1881-1886 

 

The Phase 1 structure is extended to the west. The roof line and proportions of the Phase 1 

structure are copied, but the window layout is altered. 

 

7.1.8 Phase 3f – 1881-1886 

 

A single storey building is added to the south of the Phase 3e extension. The form of the 

building is less austere than the Phase 3e building and apparently much later. 



 

7.1.9 Phase 4 – 1886-1904 

 

A large refectory building is constructed in the southwest of the convent.  

 

7.1.10 Phase 5a – 1904-1929 

 

A single storey building was constructed adjacent to the northern elevation of the Phase 1 

structure (Plate 2; 830). As a result of this, modification of the Phase 1 northern elevation has 

taken place with the insertion of large, arched openings to provide a thoroughfare between the 

Phase 1 building and the Phase 5a extension.  

 

7.1.11 Phase 5b – 1904-1929 

 

The Phase 3e building has been extended to the north. The roof line and proportions of the Phase 

3e building were copied, but the alteration to the line of the stone course at first floor level (Plate 

3; 831) indicates the break in construction.  

 

7.2 Monitoring of ground works 

 

No features or finds of archaeological interest were present in the excavated areas of the site. 

 

The remaining potential for archaeological discoveries in the area of the convent seems small 

considering the amount of excavation that has now been undertaken on the site. 

 

 

8. Conclusions 

 
In conclusion the aims of the project have been satisfied and the methods used were appropriate 

in this case. 
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Appendix 1  The Site Archive (Accession No HFD MU 2003-34) 

  
The site archive will be held by Hereford City museum. 
  
1. Site notebook pages including scale drawings (17 pages [so far]) 

2. 6 sheets of architects plans with annotated drawings 

3. 11 photographic registers (ground works) 

4. 11 sets of colour 35mm, 36 exposure films and negatives. 

5. Correspondence file 

6. Copy sets of architects plans proposed and as existing. 

7. 1 copy of this report  

8. Copy of the project design 

9. The photographic survey photographs and negatives 

10. 13 photographic registers (building survey) 

11. 6 sets of plans locating the photographic survey 

12. 9 contact sheets (colour) of the photographic survey 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Appendix 2 Photographic Survey registers and plans 
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